Usage of Microbial Fuel Cell Technology to Prevent Iron Release nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida

August 31, 2010

Gang Chen Amy Chan Hilton Kamal Tawfiq Pawan Kumar Subramania

Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering FAMU-FSU College of Engineering

State University System of Florida **Hinkley Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Management** University of Florida 4635 NW 53rd Avenue, Suite 205 Gainesville, FL 32653 www.hinkleycenter.org

Report #

FINAL REPORT

September 1, 2009 to August 31, 2010

PROJECT TITLE: Usage of Microbial Fuel Cell Technology to Prevent Iron Release nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR(S): Gang Chen

AFFILIATION: Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, FAMU-FSU College of Engineering

ASSOCIATE INVESTIGATOR(S): Amy Chan Hilton and Kamal Tawfiq

AFFILIATION: Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, FAMU-FSU College of Engineering

COMPLETION DATE: August 31, 20010

PHONE NUMBER: 850-410-6303

TAG MEMBERS: Lee Martin, Peter Grasel, Jim Langenbach, Casey Taylor, Fleurette Moise, Michael Watts, and Clayton Clark

KEY WORDS: Microbial Fuel Cell, Landfill Leachate, Electricity, Iron Release Prevention, and Northwest Florida.

ABSTRACT (1 page only)

Landfill leachate is being blamed for elevated levels of iron observations in the groundwater from monitoring wells downgradient of landfills. The geomicrobial iron reduction processes are believed to be responsible for the iron release in the groundwater. Low cost technologies are in urgent need to prevent iron release nearby landfills. The objective of this study is to investigate the feasibility of the usage of microbial fuel cell (MFC) technology for landfill leachate decomposition, iron release prevention and possible power generation. For MFC applications nearby landfills, multiple physical, chemical and biological factors play important roles in determining MFC performances, which complicates the design of the MFC systems. For this research, landfill leachate collected from landfills located in Northwest Florida was tested in a laboratory scale MFC to provide evidence that landfill leachate can be decomposed and electrons released from leachate decomposition in the anodic chamber can be transported and consumed in the cathodic chamber and consequently, electricity can be generated and iron release can be prevented. Based on the results of laboratory MFC research, iron release prevention was tested to mimic real case scenarios nearby landfills. The proposed MFC technology is of great benefit to landfills located in remote territories in terms of energy generation and environmental protection.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

September 1, 2009 to August 31, 2010

PROJECT TITLE: Usage of Microbial Fuel Cell Technology to Prevent Iron Release nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR(S): Gang Chen

AFFILIATION: Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, FAMU-FSU College of Engineering

ASSOCIATE INVESTIGATOR(S): Amy Chan Hilton and Kamal Tawfiq **AFFILIATION:** Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, FAMU-FSU College of Engineering

PROJECT WEBSITE ADDRESS (URL): http://www.eng.fsu.edu/~gchen

PROJECT TAG MEMBERS: Lee Martin, Peter Grasel, Jim Langenbach, Casey Taylor, Fleurette Moise, Michael Watts, and Clayton Clark

COMPLETION DATE: August 31, 2010

Objective:

This study investigates the feasibility of the usage of MFC technology for landfill leachate decomposition, iron release prevention and power generation. In this research, we design experimental scale MFCs where *Shewanella putrefaciens* utilizes landfill leachate as the energy source. The electrons released from landfill leachate decomposition flow from the anode to the cathode, where they are accepted by selected electron acceptors instead of iron oxides to generate electricity. Since electrons released during landfill leachate decomposition are transited and consumed by designated electron acceptors, iron release is consequently prevented.

Methodology:

Two sets of MFCs, i.e., static MFC and continuous MFC were tested for landfill leachate decomposition and power generation in this research. Based on the experimental results, a custom-made experimental setup was developed to simulate iron release prevention nearby landfills. The activities of *Shewanella putrefaciens* as well as the impact factors on MFC performance were investigated.

Results:

Among the landfill leachate collected from the four counties, landfill leachate collected from Okaloosa County generated the most power, followed by Leon County, Gadsden County and Santa Rosa County. It was discovered that the power generation was as high as 25 mW/m^2 for landfill leachate. Without the application of MFC technology, landfill leachate may trigger iron release as high as 150 mg/l. With MFC technology application, 75 to 80% of the iron release can be prevented.

1. Introduction	1
Objectives	4
2. Background	6
2.1 Iron Release nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida	6
2.2 Microbial Fuel Cell (MFC)	8
2.2.1General Discription	8
2.2.2 Electrochemically Active Bacteria	10
2.2.3 Respiration versus Fermentation	12
2.2.4 Future Work in MFCs	13
2.2.5 MFC Applications in Iron Release Prevention	15
3 Materials and Methods	16
3.1 Landfill Leachate and Soil Collection	16
3.2 Showanella putrefaciens Culturing	16
3.2 Snewanetta patrejactens Culturing	20
2.2.1 Anode Selection	20
2.2.2 Cathoda Salastian	21
	22
3.3.3 Membrane	24
3.4 Iron Release Prevention Experiments	24
3.5 Impact of Temperature on MFC Performance	26
4. Results	27
4.1 Shewanella putrefaciens Culturing	27
4.2 Laboratory Scale MFC Experiments	27
4.2.1 Power Generation	27
4.2.2 Impact of pH on Power Generation	31
4.2.3 Impact of Temperature on Power Generation	32
4.3 Applications of MFC Technology in Preventing Iron Release nearby landfills	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	33
4.4 Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release Prevention	35

5. Discussion	37
5.1 Organic Composition and MFC Performance	37
5.2 Landfill Leachate Decomposition	39
5.3 Iron Release Prevention	41

6.	Conclusion		45
7.	Future Work		46
8.	Student Trainin	ng	48
9.	Acknowledgen	nents	49
10	. References		50

TABLES

Table 1. Gibbs Free Energy of Organic Compound Oxidation	38
Table 2. BOD5 Decomposition Parameters in the Static MFC	41
Table 3. Gibbs Free Energy of Iron Reduction	42
Table 4. Theoretical Shewanella putrefaciens Activity Parameters	44

FIGURES

Figure 1. Shewanella putrefaciens under Electron Scanning Microscope	7
Figure 2. Sketches of MFC	9
Figure 3. Landfill Leachate Collection Site at Santa Rosa Central Landfill	17
Figure 4. Soil Sampling Site at Santa Rosa Central Landfill	18
Figure 5. Shewanella putrefaciens Culturing	19
Figure 6. Sketches of the MFC Developed for This Research	20
Figure 7. Static MFC Setup	21
Figure 8. Continuous MFC Setup	22
Figure 9. High Porous Graphite Electrode	23
Figure 10. Ultrx CMI-7000	24
Figure 11. Illustration of Iron Release Prevention Experiments	25
Figure 12. Iron Release Prevention Experiment and Control Experiment Setups	26
Figure 13. Impact of Temperature on MFC Performance Setup	26
Figure 14. Voltage Generation of the Static MFC	28
Figure 15. Voltage Generation of the Continuous MFC	29
Figure 16. Continuous MFC Effluent BOD ₅ Values	30
Figure 17. Continuous MFC BOD ₅ Consumption	30
Figure 18. Impact of pH on Power Generation from Static MFC	32
Figure 19. Impact of pH on Power Generation from Continuous MFC	33
Figure 20. Impact of Temperature on Power Generation from Static MFC	34
Figure 21. MFC Technology Applications on Soil Samples Collected from Landfills	34
Figure 22. Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release for Soil Samples Collected from Santa Rosa Landfill	36

Figure 23. Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release for Soil Samples Collected from	
Leon County Landfill	36
Figure 24. Organic Decomposition in the Static MFC	40

1. Introduction

Landfill leachate is being blamed for elevated levels of iron and arsenic, especially iron observations in the groundwater from monitoring wells downgradient of landfills. The geomicrobial iron reduction processes are believed to be responsible for the iron release in the groundwater (Williams et al. 2009). In Florida, soils typically consist of poorly drained sandy soils of Myakka, which are an acid soil characterized by a subsurface accumulation of humus and Al and Fe oxides (Carlisle 1995). Although Myakka soil series is widely extensive in the state of Florida, it can hardly be seen in any other states. In northwest Florida, iron content in the soil is even higher than the rest of the state. Researchers from Florida State University have demonstrated that a pure culture of Shewanella oneidensis strain MR-1 and several Geobacter spp. are capable of conserving energy for growth with the structure Fe (III) bound in smectite clay as the sole electron acceptor (Kostka et al. 2002). This is a very important discovery since most of the iron on earth exists in the form of silicate minerals or iron oxides. When conditions permit, microbial mediated iron reduction and release is the mechanism for elevated iron observations in groundwater nearby landfills (Williams et al. 2009). Specifically, when organic rich landfill leachate is leaked to the subsurface soil, organic compounds in the leachate are oxidized by intrinsic microorganisms to carbon dioxide and water, and electrons are freed, which are picked up by iron oxides. Consequently, ferrous iron is released. To prevent ferrous iron release, the freed electrons must be consumed by other electron acceptors instead of iron oxides. Microbial fuel cells (MFCs) provide an excellent solution for this problem by totally separating electron consumption from organic carbon oxidation (Watanabe 2008). Currently, there are many types of available MFC reactors throughout the world. But all MFC reactors share the same operating principles: an anode electrode and a cathode electrode are connected by an external circuit and the difference in voltage between the anode and cathode, along with the electron flow in the circuit, generates electrical power (Lovley 2008).

Microorganisms play the key role in MFC reactors. Under anaerobic conditions, organic substrates are oxidized by microorganisms to produce carbon dioxide, protons and electrons as described below (Bennetto et al. 1983):

$$C_{12}H_{22}O_{11} + 13H_2O \rightarrow 12CO_2 + 48H^+ + 48e^-$$
 (1)

If the microorganisms are electrochemically inactive, the electron transfer from the microbial cells to the electrode is facilitated by mediators such as thionine, methyl viologen, methyl blue, humic acid, neutral red and so on (Takagi et al. 1998). MFCs use the mediators to shuttle the electrons to cross the outer cell lipid membranes and plasma wall to liberate electrons to the anode (negatively charged electrode). After the release of the electrons, the mediators return to their original oxidized state and are ready to repeat the process. It is important to note that this process can only happen under anaerobic conditions. Since oxygen has greater electronegativity than the mediators, oxygen would accept the liberated electrons if oxygen is present (Davila et al. 2008). It should also be noted that most of the mediators available are expensive and toxic. Therefore, mediatorless MFCs have been developed. A mediator-less MFC does not require a mediator but uses electrochemically active bacteria to transfer electrons to the anode, i.e., electrons are carried directly from the bacterial respiratory enzyme to the anode. Electrochemically active bacteria typically have electrochemically active redox enzymes such as cytochromes on their outer membranes that can transfer electrons to external materials (Kim et al. 2005a). The electrochemically active bacteria include Shewanella putrefaciens (Schaetzle et al. 2008), Aeromonas hydrophila (Kim et al. 2006), and others. Some bacteria, which have pili on their external membranes, are also able to transfer their electron production via these pili. The same holds true for the bacterial family of Geobacteraceae, which has been reported to form a biofilm on the anode surface in MFCs and to transfer electrons with high efficiency (Bond and Lovley 2003). In addition, Rhodoferax species isolated from anoxic sediments has also been found to efficiently transfer electrons to a graphite anode using glucose as the sole carbon source (Chaudhuri and Lovley 2003). Remarkably, this bacterium is the first reported strain that can completely mineralize glucose to carbon dioxide while concomitantly generating electricity at 90% efficiency.

During MFC operations, the anode is the electron acceptor recognized by the bacteria. Therefore, the microbial activity is strongly dependent on the redox potential of the anode (Manohar and Mansfeld 2009). The cathode in the separate chamber of the MFCs is positively charged and is the equivalent of the oxygen sink at the end of the electron transport chain, which can also be external to the MFCs (Jadhav and Ghangrekar 2008). Oxygen is usually used as the electron accepter at the cathodic chamber; however, there are concerns that large volumes of circulating gas are required. Another convenient option is to use a solution of a solid oxidizing agent. For electricity generation, the anode and cathode are connected by a wire (or other electrically conductive path including electrically powered devices such as a light bulb) and the two chambers are connected by a salt bridge or ion-exchange membrane, which allows the produced protons to pass from the anodic chamber to the cathodic chamber, to complete the circuit.

MFCs have a number of potential uses. The first and most obvious one is to harvest electricity (Rabaey and Verstraete 2005). MFCs are a particularly promising power source for long-term underwater applications based on their demonstrated ability to generate current by utilizing indigenous nutrients or carbon sources. Research on MFCs at present attracts dramatic attention since MFCs can directly convert a large diversity of organic compounds into electricity. The most exciting discoveries in the past few years in MFC research are the development of MFCs that can harvest electricity from the organic matter in aquatic sediments (Holmes et al. 2004). These systems are now known as Benthic Unattended Generators or BUGs. BUGs are being designed for powering electronic devices in remote locations, such as the bottom of the ocean, where it would be expensive and technically difficult to routinely exchange traditional batteries. BUGs consist of an anode buried in anoxic marine sediments connected to a cathode suspended in the overlying aerobic water. Similar designs can potentially power electronic devices in remote locations and can even eventually be modified to harvest electricity from other sources such as compost piles, septic tanks and waste lagoons. It should be

noted that the power generated by MFCs is low, but techniques do exist to convert it to useful power levels. Most importantly, very dilute organic wastes that cannot serve as substrates in other energy production systems can be used an energy source for MFCs. For MFC applications nearby landfills, not only can energy be generated, iron release can also be prevented since the released electrons can transit the iron rich soil and be consumed by other provided electron acceptors. At the same time, leaked leachate can be simultaneously bioremediated. MFCs have been demonstrated to be able to use landfill leachate as the power source (Greenman et al. 2009).

Objectives

The objective of this study is to investigate the feasibility of the usage of MFC technology for landfill leachate decomposition, iron release prevention and possible power generation. For MFC applications nearby landfills, multiple physical, chemical and biological factors play important roles in determining MFC performance, which complicates the design of a MFC system. We hypothesize that the redox potential of the anode designed for this research ensures the activities of *Shewanella putrefaciens* to utilize landfill leachate as the energy source. We further hypothesize that the electrons released from landfill leachate decomposition will flow from the anode to the cathode, where they can be accepted by selected electron acceptors instead of iron oxides. The Specific objectives of this research project include:

1. Landfill leachate collection and *S. putrefaciens* culturing: Leachate from sixteen landfills located in Northwest Florida is to be collected and electrochemically active bacterium of *Shewanella putrefaciens* is to be screened and cultured.

2. Laboratory scale MFC experiments: Landfill leachate collected from landfills located in Northwest Florida is to be tested in a laboratory scale MFC to provide evidence that landfill leachate can be decomposed and electrons released in the anodic chamber can be transported and consumed in the cathodic chamber and consequently, electricity can be generated.

3. Iron release prevention experiments: Based on the results of MFC experiments, custom-designed iron prevention setup is to be tested with iron rich soil to mimic real case scenarios nearby landfills. In addition to providing evidence that landfill leachate can be decomposed and electricity can be generated, prevention of ferrous iron release is to be demonstrated.

2. Background

2.1 Iron Release nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida

It is suspected that geochemical and geomicrobial iron reduction/oxidation processes are responsible for iron release in the groundwater. Iron-reducing bacteria reduce iron oxides to ferrous iron and release it to the groundwater when landfill leachate contacts the soil (Williams et al. 2009). Researchers have demonstrated that *Shewanella oneidensis* is capable of conserving energy for growth with the structure Fe (III) bound in smectite clay as the sole electron acceptor (Dong et al. 2003; Kim et al. 2005b; Lee et al. 2006) :

$$CH_2O + 2Fe_2O_3 + 3H_2O = CO_2 + 4Fe^{2+} + 8OH^-$$
 (2)

This is a very important discovery since most of the iron on earth exists in the form of silicate minerals or iron oxides (Perez-Gonzalez et al. 2010). When conditions permit, microbial mediated iron reduction and release may be the mechanism for elevated iron observations in groundwater. Laboratory iron reduction experiments were conducted in our laboratory using soil samples collected from landfill sites reacting with the corresponding leachate under chemistry and biology conditions similar to the concerned site (Williams et al. 2009). These experiments were conducted in a sealed glass reaction vessel in the anaerobic chamber to mimic the situations in the subsurface where landfill leachate interacted with the soils. The results confirmed that iron reducing bacteria were present in the growth chambers and iron was consequently released. Iron concentrations were observed to be as high as 450 mg/L and 420 mg/L within 55 days for soil samples collected from Jackson County (Spring Hill South Landfill) and Walton County reacting with the corresponding landfill leachate. Soil collected from the other landfill sites in Northwest Florida produced less than 200 mg/L of iron (Williams et al. 2009). According to Equation (2), low pH favored the iron reduction process. By monitoring the pH variation, we found that the pH of the leachate was very low for Jackson County and Walton County. Consequently, higher iron release was observed for their reactions.

The iron-reducing bacteria were isolated and identified. It was discovered that Shewanella putrefaciens was one of the major species (Figure 1). Shewanella putrefaciens is one of very few isolated microorganisms that are able to use iron(III) as an electron acceptor. Thus it plays an important role in iron transformation in the environment. In our prior research, we also found that the released ferrous iron may adsorb on Shewanella putrefaciens surfaces. Based on the laboratory observation, it seemed that sorption of ferrous iron on Shewanella putrefaciens increased linearly with reaction time until around 100 minutes. After 100 minutes, sorption of ferrous iron on Shewanella putrefaciens became moderate. The effect of pH on ferrous iron equilibrium adsorption on *Shewanella putrefaciens* was further investigated. Based on the speciation analysis, ferrous iron does not precipitate in the pH range of 3 to 9. Therefore, the effect of precipitation on ferrous iron adsorption on Shewanella putrefaciens was minimal. Ferrous iron had linear isotherms on Shewanella putrefaciens under the pH range investigated for this research. From isotherm experiments, the average partition coefficient was found to be 0.073 L/g, 0.059 L/g, 0.050 L/g, 0.039 L/g, 0.035 L/g, 0.033 L/G and 0.026 L/g for pH of 3.0, 4.0, 5.0, 6.0, 7.0, 8.0 and 9.0 respectively (Subramaniam et al. 2010).



Figure 1. Shewanella putrefaciens under Electron Scanning Microscope

Besides above reasons, *Shewanella putrefaciens* species are of interest in this research because of their novel electron transfer capabilities, which makes it possible for us to harvest electricity from waste organic matter. In the subsurface soil, *Shewanella putrefaciens* is able to oxidize organic compounds to carbon dioxide with iron oxides as the electron acceptor. In other words, *Shewanella putrefaciens* gains its energy by using iron oxides.

2.2 Microbial Fuel Cell (MFC)

2.2.1 General Description

The development of processes to generate biofuels and bioenergy has been of special interest lately. Among these, MFCs have received increasing attention (Luckarift et al. 2010). This process, which collects the electricity generated by microbes when they metabolize substrates, is considered to be one of the most efficient energy sources because no burning is required to produce energy. MFCs convert chemical energy, available in a bio-convertible substrate, directly into electricity. MFCs consist of an anode, a cathode, a proton or cation exchange membrane and an electrical circuit (Figure 2). In the MFCs, microorganisms catalyze the anaerobic oxidation of diverse organic substances (such as wastewater pollutants, organic waste, and organic matter in soils or sediments) to carbon dioxide, protons and electrons in the anode chamber (Wang et al. 2010; You et al. 2010). In the absence of oxygen, bacteria need to switch from their natural electron acceptor to an insoluble acceptor, i.e., the MFC anode. Due to the ability of bacteria to transfer electrons to the insoluble electron acceptor, the electrons originating from the microbial metabolism can be collected. The electron transfer can occur either via membrane-associated components, soluble electron shuttles or an electrical circuit with a load or a resistor to the cathode. The potential difference between the anode and the cathode, together with the flow of electrons results in the generation of electrical power (Borole et al. 2010; Feng et al. 2010; Fornero et al. 2010). At the same time, the protons flow through the proton or cation exchange membrane to the cathode. This membrane allows the flow of hydrogen ions from one chamber to the other but will not allow the passage of either electrons or gasses present in the chamber. At the cathode,

an electron acceptor is chemically reduced. Ideally, oxygen is reduced to water. To obtain a sufficient oxygen reduction reaction (ORR) rate, a platinum-catalyst is usually used. However, many researchers have tried to use other non-noble metal catalysts (Alzate-Gaviria et al. 2008).



Table 2. Sketch of MFC

To date, many organic substrates have been investigated as possible energy sources to generate electricity using MFCs. The substrates used in MFCs range from carbohydrates (glucose, sucrose, cellulose, starch), volatile fatty acids (formate, acetate, butyrate), alcohols (ethanol, methanol), amino acids, proteins and even inorganic components such as sulfides or acid mine drainages (Donovan et al. 2008; Fornero et al. 2008; Freguia et al. 2008; He et al. 2008; Ishii et al. 2008; Jadhav and Ghangrekar 2009; Rezaei et al. 2008; Sharma et al. 2008; Strik et al. 2008; Thygesen et al. 2009; Yang et al. 2009). In order to benchmark new MFC components, reactor designs or operational conditions, acetate is commonly used as a substrate because of its inertness towards alternative microbial conversions (fermentations and methanogensis) at room temperature. This results in high coulombic efficiencies of up to 98% (Freguia et al. 2008; Rabaey et al. 2003; Read et al. 2010) and high power outputs of up to 115 W.m³ for mixed anodophylic cultures (Cheng and Logan 2007).

The microbial conversion of substrates is a key process to generate electricity in a MFC. The electrical power produced by an MFC is based on the rate of electrons moving through the circuit and electrochemical potential difference across the electrodes. Many factors affect current production, including substrate concentration, bacterial substrate oxidation rate, presence of alternative electron acceptors, and microbial growth (Rabaey and Keller 2008; Virdis et al. 2009). Electrochemical potential, on the other hand, depends on the redox couple between the bacterial respiratory enzyme or electron carrier and the potential at the anode, which is determined by the terminal electron acceptor in the cathode and any system losses. Due to the positive potential difference (ΔE) between the poles of the MFC, the flow of electrons (I) generates a useful power (P) according to:

$$P = I \times \Delta E \tag{3}$$

The ratio between the voltage and the current is determined by the external resistance (R_{ext}) according to Ohms law:

$$\Delta E = I x R_{ext}$$
⁽⁴⁾

When the external resistance is infinite (open circuit conditions), no current flows and the open circuit voltage is obtained. Conversely, when the R_{ext} is zero (short circuit conditions; $\Delta E = zero$), the short circuit current is generated.

2.2.2 Electrochemically Active Bacteria

Unlike natural environmental systems, the anode compartment of a MFC is an engineered environment in which the availability of soluble electron acceptors is limited. The microbial electricity generation relies on the drive of bacteria to acquire maximum energy (Fedorovich et al. 2009; Hou et al. 2009; Park et al. 2001; Pham et al. 2003). The main electron acceptor present in a MFC, enabling bacteria to use respiratory processes, is a solid conductive electrode. The higher amount of metabolic energy released by transferring electrons to the electrode compared to the use of other electron acceptors is their drive to colonize the electrode and develop electron transfer strategies. Bacteria transfer electrons to anodes either directly or via mediated mechanisms. In direct electron

transfer, bacteria require physical contact with the electrode for current production (Biffinger et al. 2009; Chang et al. 2006; Yoon et al. 2007). The contact point between the bacteria and the anode surface requires outer membrane-bound cytochromes or putatively conductive pili called nanowires. Although direct contact of an outermembrane cytochrome to an anodic surface would require microorganisms to be situated upon the electrode itself, direct electron transfer mechanisms are not limited to short-range interactions, as nanowires produced by *Geobacter sulfurreducens* have been implicated in electron conduction through anode biofilms more than 50 um thick (Ishii et al. 2008; Trinh et al. 2009). In mediated electron transfer mechanisms, bacteria either produce or take advantage of indigenous soluble redox compounds such as quinones and flavins to shuttle electrons between the terminal respiratory enzyme and the anode surface.

Electrochemically active bacteria can achieve electron transfer without the presence of carriers. The electrochemically active bacteria including *Shewanella putrefaciens*, *Aeromonas hydrophila*, and others have been examined in MFCs (Ishii et al. 2008; Trinh et al. 2009). Some other bacteria, which have pili on their external membranes, are also able to transfer their electron production via these pili. The same holds true for the bacterial family of *Geobacteraceae*, which has been reported to form a biofilm on the anode surface in MFCs and to transfer electrons with high efficiency (Bond and Lovley 2003). In addition, *Rhodoferax* species isolated from anoxic sediments have also been found to efficiently transfer electrons to a graphite anode using glucose as the sole carbon source (Chaudhuri and Lovley 2003). Remarkably, this bacterium is the first reported strain that can completely mineralize glucose to carbon dioxide while concomitantly generating electricity at 90% efficiency. Among above-mentioned electrochemically active bacteria that can be used in MFCs, *Shewanella* is also an iron-reducing bacterium, which makes its activities most important in the iron-rich Northwest Florida soil (Baron et al. 2009; Marsili et al. 2008).

In present technology, the current production from the MFCs is limited to powering small electronic devices for short periods. The highest power densities reported were approximately 50 Watts per cubic meter of fuel cell volume (Cheng et al. 2006b). The

only MFC application to date is powering monitoring devices in remote locations. However, MFCs have the potential to be developed for a wider range of applications and are thought to be the future technology for energy-efficient wastewater treatment. Scientists are exploring various configurations of microbial fuel cells: microbial electrolysis cells (for hydrogen production), microbial desalination fuel cells, and benthos/sediment microbial fuel cells (Guo et al. 2010; Manuel et al. 2010; Teng et al. 2010).

2.2.3 Respiration versus Fermentation

Microorganisms survive and grow due to the energy they generate by transferring electrons. Respiring bacteria gain energy by the transfer of electrons to external acceptors. During respiration, microorganisms liberate electrons from an electron rich substrate at a low redox potential and transfer these electrons through a number of electron transport complexes through the cell membrane where a final electron acceptor is reduced (Noguchi et al. 2004; Prado et al. 2004; van Maris et al. 2001; Zabalza et al. 2009). Microorganisms do not use the energy produced by the flow of electrons in a direct way, instead, the flow of electrons is used to create a proton gradient across the cell membrane (Wright and Bishop 1962). The energy released by the inward flux of the protons through a membrane complex (ATP synthase) is used to regenerate energy carrier molecules, such as adenosine triphosphate (ATP). By creating this proton gradient, the potential difference between the electron donor (i.e. the substrate at low potential) and the electron acceptor is translated into a process for the generation of energy (Barford 1985). The higher the potential difference between the electron donor and electron acceptor, the higher the proton driven potential difference and the higher the potential amount of ATP that can be refueled. Respiring microorganisms can use a large variety of different electron acceptors, ranging from oxygen, nitrate, iron and manganese oxides to sulfate, but their ability to use the acceptor with the highest redox potential will increase their energy for growth (Madigan et al. 2000) and is their incentive to explore alternative electron acceptors.

In many environments, the availability of electron acceptors is limited, which impedes microorganisms from using the respiratory pathway. In these cases, which are abundant in many environmental conditions, fermenting organisms are likely to establish themselves. Fermenting bacteria generate energy by the internal recirculation of electrons. Fermentation is an ATP-regenerating metabolic process in which degradation products or organic substrates serve as electron donor as well as electron acceptor (Schlegel 1992). The advantage of this pathway is that fermenting organisms are able to grow in numerous environments which are non-supportive for organisms that only use the respiratory pathway because suitable electron acceptors are lacking (Goddard 1945; Scott 1945). Fermenting organisms are important within the overall microbial processes in nature for their ability to degrade polymeric compounds into readily degradable monomers. However, fermentation is energetically far less efficient compared to respiration as only 1 to 4 moles of ATP are formed during the fermentation of glucose where 26 to 38 moles of ATP are formed during the aerobic degradation of glucose (Schlegel 1992). This is also reflected in the Gibbs free energy value, which is a factor of 7 lower for the fermentation of glucose compared to the aerobic respiration. The remainder of the Gibbs free energy is not lost but is conserved within the excreted fermentation products such as volatile fatty acids, hydrogen, alcohols and many more. The tradeoff between their low energetic yield, and their ability to colonize niches devoid of readily available electron donors and acceptors, determines the success of fermenting organisms in many ecosystems (Goddard 1945; Scott 1945).

2.2.4 Future Work in MFCs

There are still many obstacles that need to be overcome before this technology can be put to use. Currently the voltage and amperage generated by microbial fuel cells is so low that it has no useful applications. In order to develop solutions to these problems, research is being done to engineer more efficient hardware for the fuel cells and to understand how different microbes interact with the anodes/cathodes when transporting electrons. MFC research endeavors are increasing each year. Much attention is dedicated to optimizing power generation. Improvements in MFC design and materials have significantly improved reactor performance by 10,000-fold since 1999. Despite this advance, a further increase of 10- to 100- fold is required for MFCs to be considered for practical applications.

Identifying the more efficient electrochemically active bacteria is one of the means. One of the microorganisms which is being studied in depth for its application in microbial fuel cells is *Geobacter sulfurreducens*. This bacterium is of special interest because it is the most abundant species on anode surfaces in microbial fuel cells grown with more than one bacterial species. This Geobacter species, which generates electricity by oxidizing compounds and reducing the anode, has been shown to generate substantial amounts of energy due to multiple mechanisms of transporting electrons to extracellular sources through either pili or c-type cytochromes (Kline et al. 2010; Richter et al. 2010). Another appealing characteristic of *Geobacter sulfurreducens* is its ability to form thick biofilms around the surfaces which it uses as an electron acceptor (Ishii et al. 2008; Trinh et al. 2009). The formation of biofilms on the anodes allows a higher current production because all the cells are involved in electron transport to the anode. The biofilm allows all the grouped cells to be actively involved in the transfers of electrons to the anode. This bacterium has been observed to grow biofilms as thick as 50 µm around the anode in a MFC. The formation of biofilms is possible thanks to outer membrane structures of pili. In the case of *Geobacter sulfurreducens* the gene that allows the formation of the type IV pili is *pilA* (Ishii et al. 2008; Trinh et al. 2009). Wild type cells that express the gene are able to form biofilms on almost any surface. Mutants that have a *pilA* deletion can adhere to different surfaces but are not able to either express pili or form thick biofilms. Complemented *pilA* mutants (having a *pilA* gene reinserted) are once again able to express pili and form biofilms. It has been shown that Geobacter sulfurreducens MFCs that are grown with wild type and *pilA* complemented strains generate much more electricity than MFCs grown with *pilA* deficient strains (Richter et al. 2008).

The materials used for the anode also have a big effect on how efficiently the power can be generated. Currently, graphite is the most commonly used material for MFC anodes (Hasanaly 2010; Li et al. 2010). Graphite has a rough surface which provides more surface area for the cells to attach to. It has been proven that materials that have surfaces with rough areas similar to the diameter of the cells will have more microorganisms bound to them. In the case of *Geobacter sulfurreducens* MFCs, graphite provides a rough surface not only for individual cells to bind directly to the anode but it also allows these cells to anchor firmly to the surface by means of pili. The biofilms that are formed will be tightly bound to the anode and will most likely not separate from the electron acceptor even when the medium in which the organisms are grown is constantly being mixed.

2.2.5 MFC Applications in Iron Release Prevention

Besides generating energy, MFCs are powerful research tools. With electrical current a proxy for bacterial activity, MFCs are controlled systems for addressing a range of questions. MFC-based research continues to expand this knowledge into a diversity of engineering applications. MFC technology has the potential unique applications in iron release prevention nearby landfills. Nearby the landfills, when organic rich landfill leachate is leaked to the subsurface soil, organic compounds in the leachate are oxidized by intrinsic microorganisms to carbon dioxide and water, and electrons are freed and picked up by iron oxides in the soil (Williams et al. 2009). Consequently, ferrous iron is released. To prevent ferrous iron release, MFCs provide a potential solution by totally separating electron consumption from organic carbon oxidation. Electrons are passed onto a terminal electron acceptor such as oxygen in the cathode region to prevent iron release prevention.

The type of substrate fed to a MFC potentially has an impact on the structure and composition of the microbial community. The more reduced the substrate is, the more energy there is available to divide across the community. This may lead to an increase of the possible interactions and niches. Until recently, no clear image of the effect of the type of substrate on the microbial community is available.

3. Materials and Methods

3.1 Landfill Leachate and Soil Sample Collection

Landfill leachate was collected from leachate sumps located at sixteen landfills in Northwest Florida, including Steelfield Landfill (Bay County), Calhoun County Landfill, Perdido Landfill (Escambia County), Franklin County Landfill, Quincy-Byrd Landfill (Gadsden County), Five Points Landfill (Gulf County), Holmes County Landfill, Springhill Landfill (Jackson County), US 27 South Landfill (Leon County), Liberty County Landfill, Baker Landfill (Okaloosa County), Santa Rosa Central Landfill (Santa Rosa County), Santa Rosa Holley Landfill (Santa Rosa County), Lower Bridge Landfill (Wakulla County), Walton County Central Landfill, and Mudhill Landfill (Washington County) (Figure 3). After collection, the leachate was stored in temperature-controlled containers at 4°C and immediately transported to the laboratory. The leachate was stored under refrigeration at 4°C. Based on the results of our previous research, the landfill leachate had a composition of COD up to 20,000 mg·L⁻¹, NH₄⁺-N up to 500 mg·L⁻¹, and phosphorus up to 200 mg·L⁻¹. Soil samples that were used for this research were collected from the referenced landfill sites. Specifically, soil samples were collected 1 to 3 feet below the surface, 100 to 300 feet away from the landfills (Figure 4). The collected soil samples were immediately placed in either a Ziploc bag or a Styrofoam cooler and sealed. All the soil samples were immediately delivered to the laboratory and placed under refrigeration at 4°C until used in the experiments.

3.2 Shewanella putrefaciens Culturing

Mediator-less MFCs depend on the electrochemically active bacteria to transfer electrons to the anode. Electrochemically active bacteria use the anode in their metabolism, thus they strategically position themselves on the anode surface to form a biofilm. Bacteria in the biofilm produce a matrix of material so that they stick to the anode. The electrochemically active redox enzymes such as cytochromes on their outer membrane potentially transport electrons. Recently, some metal reducing bacteria have been reported to directly transfer electrons to the anode, which are commonly found in sediments, especially in the iron rich Northwest Florida subsurface soil. For instance, specific cytochromes at the outside of the cell membrane of *Shewanella putrefaciens*



Figure 3. Landfill Leachate Collection Site at Santa Rosa Central Landfill

make these strains electrochemically active in case they are grown under anaerobic conditions. For this research, we cultured electrochemically active *Shewanella putrefaciens* using collected soil samples as the inocula. Continuous cultivation and enrichment were carried out immediately in an anaerobic chamber after the samples were transported back to our laboratory. Specifically, 10 mg soil was transferred into a 250 ml serum bottle containing 100 ml sterilized culture media (Figure 5). The media had a composition (mg/l) of KH₂PO₄, 160; K₂HPO₄, 420; Na₂HPO₄, 50; NH₄Cl, 40; MgSO₄·7H₂O, 50; CaCl₂, 50; FeCl₃·6H₂O, 0.5; MnSO₄·4H₂O, 0.05; H₃BO₃, 0.1; ZnSO₄·7H₂O, 0.05; (NH4)₆Mo₇O₂₄, 0.03; glucose, 200; and ammonia chloride, 60. The pH of the media was adjusted to 7.4 with 1 M HCl or 1 M NaOH, after which the media

were sterilized by autoclaving (121°C and 1 atm) for 20 min. Glucose was filter-sterilized and aseptically added to the autoclaved media. The serum bottle was equipped with CO₂



Figure 4. Soil Sampling Site at Santa Rosa Central Landfill

entrapping devices. For this research, 1 M KOH was used to entrap CO₂. Resazurin (1 mg/l) was added as a redox indicator to indicate contamination by molecular oxygen and cysteine (3.0 g/l) was added to reduce the trace amount of oxygen remaining in the media after autoclaving. The headspace of the serum bottle was pressurized with ultrapure nitrogen and the serum bottle was capped with butyl rubber septa and crimped with an aluminum seal. The inoculated serum bottle was put into a rotary-shaker (150 rpm at 35 °C) in the dark for at least 1 week until the formation of black precipitate at the bottom and on the wall of the serum bottle can be observed. Then 10 ml enriched culture was transferred into 100 ml fresh culture media with approximately 50 mg/l Fe³⁺ for the second phase culture enrichment. 10 ml enriched culture from the second phase was transferred into 100 ml fresh culture media with approximately 50 mg/l Fe³⁺ for the third

phase culture enrichment and 10 ml enriched culture from the third phase was transferred into 100 ml fresh culture media with approximately 50 mg/l Fe³⁺ for the fourth phase culture enrichment. After the fourth phase enrichment was completed, bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation (6000 g, 15 min) and washed twice with fresh, anoxic NaHCO₃ buffer (0.05 M) under an extra-pure nitrogen atmosphere. The



Figure 5. Shewanella putrefaciens Culturing

concentrated cells were re-suspended in a serum bottle containing fresh, anoxic NaHCO₃ buffer (0.05 M) to give a final concentration of approximately 5×10^9 cells/ml. *Shewanella putrefaciens* was identified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) analysis. This method amplified specific regions of DNA in the microorganism's genome by selectively catalyzing the replication of those regions. The replicated regions were then compared to a database where DNA of *S. putrefaciens* has already characterized. Microbial Genome Database (MBGD) developed by National Institute for Basic Biology and Okazaki National Research Institutes and the database developed by SRI International, Marine Biological Laboratory, Double Twist Inc., Institute for Genomic Research, University of

California at San Diego and Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México were used for *Shewanella putrefaciens* screening. Once *Shewanella putrefaciens* was screened out, it was enriched in 100 ml fresh culture media with approximately 50 mg/l Fe³⁺.

3.3 Laboratory Scale MFC Experiments

Dual-chamber MFCs were constructed in this research. Sketches of the MFCs are illustrated in Figure 6. As shown in Figure 6, a graphite rod, without a catalyst coating, was installed in the center of the inner chamber as the anode. The anode was inoculated with the cultured *Shewanella putrefaciens*, the dominant organism in the process of iron reduction in the iron rich soil of Northwest Florida. Carbon cloth (effective area of 12.6 cm², 30% wet proofing), coated with platinum catalysts (0.15 mg/cm², 5% Pt) was placed on the outside layer of the inner chamber, serving as the cathode. Connections between the two electrodes were a copper wire through a rheostat (10 - 1000 Ω). Synthetic polymeric nanoporous membranes were tested in this research and used as the cation-selective membrane or cation-exchange membrane (CEM). During the operation, *Shewanella putrefaciens* was attached to the anode and collected landfill leachate was introduced to the anodic chamber. The operation proceeded in the absence of oxygen. The generated carbon dioxide was trapped in the CO₂ entrapping device. In the cathodic chamber, oxygen was provided.



Figure 6. Sketches of the MFC Developed for This Research

Based on above sketches, two MFC setups were developed in this research, i.e., a static MFC (Figure 7) and a continuous MFC (Figure 8). The static MFC was a batch-focused setup and the continuous MFC provided the results for continuous systems.



Figure 7. Static MFC Setup

3.3.1 Anode Selection

Anodic materials must be conductive, biocompatible and chemically stable in the reactor solution. Metal anodes consisting of noncorrosive stainless steel mesh can be utilized, but copper is not useful due to the toxicity of even trace copper ions to the bacteria. The most versatile electrode materials are carbon, available as compact graphite plates, rods, or granules, as fibrous material (felt, cloth, paper, fibers, foam), and as glassy carbon. The simplest materials for anode electrodes are graphite plates or rods as they are relatively inexpensive, easy to handle, and have a defined surface area. As the anode receives the electrons, its potential decreases to a lower level than that of the cathode in the cathodic

chamber (Cheng et al. 2008). The performance of the anode thus plays an important role for a maximum power output. For this research, highly porous graphite electrodes were used as the anode (Figure 9). After introduction of landfill leachate, the anodic chamber was sparged with nitrogen to remove oxygen.



Figure 8. Continuous MFC Setup

3.3.2 Cathode Selection

The choice of the cathode materials also greatly affects the MFC performance. Besides oxygen, various catholytes such as hexacynoferrate or acidic permanganate have been used in MFCs (Rabaey et al. 2005; You et al. 2006). In comparison to these oxidants, oxygen is more suitable as the electron acceptor for the MFCs due to its high oxidation potential, availability, low cost, sustainability, and the lack of a chemical waste product (water is formed as the only end product). Based on prior research, MFCs with O_2 or air as the cathodic electron acceptor often need expensive platinum as the catalyst to



Figure 9. High Porous Graphite Electrode

accelerate the O₂ reduction reaction (Liu and Logan 2004), although novel non-noble metal catalysts such as pyrolyzed iron (II) phthalocyanine (FePc) or cobalt tetramethylphenylporphyrin (CoTMPP) are proposed to replace platinum (Cheng et al. 2006b; Zhao et al. 2006). Recently, potassium ferricyanide (K₃[Fe(CN)₆]) is also popularly utilized as the electron acceptor in MFCs owing to its good performance (Park and Zeikus 2003). The greatest advantage of potassium ferricyanide is the low over potential using a plain carbon cathode, resulting in a cathode working potential close to its open circuit potential. A 50 - 80% increase in maximum power using potassium ferricyanide in the cathodic compartment as compared to an oxygen-saturated aqueous cathode or a platinum-coated air-cathode has been reported (Oh et al. 2004). The observed differences can be attributed to high open circuit potential and a greater mass transfer efficiency of potassium ferricyanide solution than that of dissolved oxygen. The greatest disadvantage, however, is that potassium ferricyanide is not a suitable choice for sustainable electricity generation in MFCs. It is potentially toxic, requires regular replenishing due to its low rate of regeneration by oxygen, and diffuses through the membrane over long-term operation which eventually reduces the overall performance of the MFCs (Logan and Regan 2006). For the landfill applications, sustainability is always the priority. Therefore, for this research, O₂ was chosen as the electron acceptor. Since O₂ served as the electron acceptor, phosphate buffer (50 mM K₂HPO₄) was used as the electrolyte.

3.3.3 Membrane

The majority of MFC designs require the separation of the anodic and the cathodic compartments by a CEM. Exceptions are naturally separated systems such as sediment MFCs or specially designed single-compartment MFCs (Cheng et al. 2006a; Reimers et al. 2001). The most commonly used CEM is Nafion (Dupont Co., USA), which is available from numerous suppliers (e.g., Aldrich and Ion Power, Inc.). Alternatives to Nafion, such as Ultrex CMI-7000 (Membranes International Inc., Glen Rock, NJ) also are well suited for MFC applications and are considerably more cost-effective than Nafion (Rabaey et al. 2004). When a CEM is used in an MFC, it is important to recognize that it may be permeable to chemicals such as oxygen, ferricyanide, or organic matter used as the substrate. For this research, Ultrex CMI-7000 was used as the CEM.



Figure 10. Ultrex CMI-7000

3.4 Iron Release Prevention Experiments

To test that the proposed MFC technology can be practically applied to decompose landfill leachate in the field and prevent iron release, the following experiments were conducted. The design was similar as the laboratory scale MFC setup and the major difference was that iron rich soil collected from the landfills in Northwest Florida was introduced in the reactions (Figure 11). The optimal conditions from the laboratory scale experiments such as the anode and cathode selections as well as the optimal DO concentration were applied. In addition to the parameters monitored before, ferrous iron



Figure 11. Illustration of Iron Release Prevention Experiments

concentration was monitored in both the anodic chamber and the cathodic chamber. To provide evidence that the MFC technology can indeed prevent iron release, a parallel control experiment was conducted: The cathode and anode were removed and landfill leachate contacted and reacted with iron rich soil directly (Figure 12). For the control experiment, landfill leachate organic component decomposition and ferrous iron release was monitored and compared with the iron release prevention experiments. For the control experiment, it was suspected that electrons were released from organic compound decomposition, which would be consumed by iron oxides surrounding the anode in the anodic chamber. Consequently, iron was supposed to be leased. The effect of oxygen concentration (DO) on iron release prevention was studied by aerating the solution in the cathodic chamber using O_2 in combination with nitrogen. Specifically, DO concentrations varied from 0 to 8 mg/l.



Figure 12. Iron Release Prevention Experiment and Control Experiment Setups

3.5 Impact of Temperature on MFC Performance

Impact of temperature on MFC performance was conducted by putting the static MFC in an incubator (Figure 13). The temperature investigated was in the range from 25° C to 40° C.



Figure 13. Impact of Temperature on MFC Performance Setup

4. Results

4.1 Shewanella putrefaciens Culturing

In this research, we investigated iron release prevention and energy generation using mediator-less MFCs. These MFCs depended on the bacteria to transfer electrons to the anode. For this research, we used *Shewanella putrefaciens*, which are commonly found in sediments, especially in the iron rich Northwest Florida subsurface soil, in the MFC studies. We cultured electrochemically active *Shewanella putrefaciens* using collected soil samples from Franklin County Landfill, Quincy-Byrd Landfill (Gadsden County), Baker Landfill (Okaloosa County), and Santa Rosa Central Landfill (Santa Rosa County) as the inocula. Continuous cultivation and enrichment were carried out in an anaerobic chamber after the samples were transported back to the laboratory. Bacterial cells were harvested by centrifugation (6000 g, 15 min) and washed twice with fresh, anoxic NaHCO₃ buffer (0.05 M) under an extra-pure nitrogen atmosphere. The concentrated cells were re-suspended in a serum bottle containing fresh, anoxic NaHCO₃ buffer (0.05 M) to give a final concentration of approximately 5×10^9 cells/ml. *Shewanella putrefaciens* was identified by PCR analysis.

4.2 Laboratory Scale MFC Experiments

4.2.1 Power Generation

Two dual-chamber MFCs, one batch MFC and one continuous MFC were constructed for this research. Graphite rods, without coated catalysts, were installed in the center of the inner chambers as the anodes. The anodes were inoculated with the cultured *Shewanella putrefaciens*. Carbon cloth (effective area of 12.6 cm², 30% wet proofing), coated with platinum catalysts (0.15 mg/cm², 5% Pt) served as the cathode. In the cathode chamber, O_2 served as the electron acceptor. The anodes and cathodes were used as the cation-exchange membrane (CEM).

Besides landfill leachate, glucose was also used as a comparison for power generation. Glucose generated higher voltage (up to 0.4 V) as compared to that of landfill leachate (up to 0.1 V) (Figure 14). In addition, a self-sharpening power generation front was observed for glucose. However, for landfill leachate, there was an obvious lag, indicating that *Shewanella putrefaciens* needed time to adapt to the landfill leachate. Among the landfill leachate collected from the four locations, landfill leachate collected from Okaloosa County generated the most power, followed by Leon County, Gadsden County and Santa Rosa County. By translating the voltage to power, it was discovered that the power generation was as high as 68 mW/m^2 for glucose and 25 mW/m^2 for landfill leachate.



Figure 14. Voltage Generation of the Static MFC

In the continuous MFC, the carbon source was continuously supplied and uninterrupted current was produced (Figure 15). The input landfill leachate was diluted to a BOD₅ value ~ 250 mg/l. After the MFC treatment, the effluent BOD₅ was in the range of 40 ~

120 mg/l, i.e., around 50 ~ 80% of BOD was remediated (Figure 16). Correspondingly, a stable voltage of ~ 0.3 V and ~ 0.1 V was maintained for glucose and landfill leachate.



Figure 15. Voltage Generation of the Continuous MFC

Among the landfill leachate collected from the four landfill locations, there was a general trend that landfill leachate collected from Okaloosa County generated the most power, followed by Leon County, Gadsden County and Santa Rosa County. The power generation had no relationship with the effluent BOD_5 values. By comparing the power generation with BOD_5 consumption, it was discovered that power generation corresponded to the BOD_5 consumption (Figure 17).



Figure 16. Continuous MFC Effluent BOD₅ Values



Figure 17. Continuous MFC BOD₅ Consumption

4.2.2 Impact of pH on Power Generation

Using the two dual-chamber MFC setups, the impact of pH on power generation from landfill leachate collected from Leon County was tested. For these processes, O_2 served as the electron acceptor in the cathode chamber, and the anodes and cathodes were connected through a digital multi-meter.

The impact of pH on power generation was illustrated in Figure 18 and Figure 19. High pH (i.e., pH 8) generated more power as compared to low pH (i.e., pH 6) for both the static MFC (Figure 18) and continuous MFC (Figure 19). It should be noted that the pH control was achieved at the anode chamber where organic compounds (glucose or landfill leachate) were decomposed. According to the following equation, raising the pH should favor electron release:

$$C_{12}H_{22}O_{11} + 13H_2O \rightarrow 12CO_2 + 48H^+ + 48e^-$$
 (5)

However, when free electrons are picked up by oxygen in the cathode chamber, lowering the pH should favor the reaction:

$$1/4O_2 + H^+ + e^- \rightarrow 1/2H_2O$$
 (6)

Since the cathode chamber is totally separated from the anode chamber, for above experiments, we only examined pH variations at the anode chamber. In addition, we only focused on typical pH ranges of the soils nearby the landfills, i.e., pH 6 to pH 8.

The pH of landfill leachate ranges from 3 to 10. However, the typical values are usually in the range of 6 to 8. Based on this research, there is a general trend that high pH favors the MFC performances since organic decomposition consumes alkalinity."

4.2.3 Impact of Temperature on Power Generation

Impact of temperature on power generation was examined using Leon County landfill leachate as the substrate for the static MFC. As shown in Figure 20, more power was generated at higher temperature as compared to room temperature. At 35°C, a voltage of 0.4 V can be reached as compared to 0.15 V at room temperature.



Figure 18. Impact of pH on Power Generation from Static MFC

Temperature affects reaction rates considerably. Since MFCs decompose organic compounds under anaerobic conditions, growth rates in general roughly double for each 10°C rise in temperature within the usual mesophilic operational range from 10°C to 35°C. This is demonstrated in this research. As shown in Figure 20, voltage generation was doubled when the temperature increased from room temperature to 35°C. For landfills located in Florida, owing to the tropical conditions, high temperature favors MFC performances. However, on the other hand, dissolved oxygen decreases with the increase of temperature, which may have adverse effect on MFC efficiency. Therefore,

for field applications, impact of temperature must be carefully evaluated before MFC implementation."



Figure 19. Impact of pH on Power Generation from Continuous MFC

4.3 Applications of MFC Technology in Preventing Iron Release nearby Landfills

As a control, landfill leachate collected from Santa Rosa County Landfill and Leon County Landfill was sprayed to the soil samples collected from Santa Rosa County Landfill (Figure 21). After 5 days, iron started to be released from the soil. Within two weeks, iron can be released as high as 150 mg/l (Figure 21). In a parallel setup, MFC technology was applied. Specifically, a Nafion membrane was used to create an anode region where landfill leachate was applied. Outside this region, a cathode region was created with wires connected to an oxygen source (armed Erlenmeyer flask in Figure 12). Within the anode region, *Shewanella putrefaciens* was inoculated. As evidenced by Figure 21, much less iron was released when MFC technology was applied.



Figure 20. Impact of Temperature on Power Generation from Static MFC



Figure 21. MFC Technology Applications on Soil Samples Collected from Landfills

Even with the application of the MFC technology, there was approximately 30 to 40 mg/l of iron released. This was because the obstacles of the electron transfer within the anode region. Another important factor that impacted the iron release prevention was the potential difference between the cathode and anode. To address this issue, the impact of dissolved oxygen on iron release prevention was further investigated.

4.4 Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release Prevention

The difference of the potential between the anode and cathode was the driving force for iron release control, which was controlled by the dissolved oxygen level in the cathode region. The effect of dissolved oxygen on iron release prevention was studied by aerating the solution in the cathodic chamber using O_2 in combination with nitrogen. Specifically, DO concentrations varied from 0 to 8 mg/l.

For soil samples collected from Santa Rosa Landfill, a high dissolved oxygen level (i.e., 7.87 mg/l) resulted in much lower iron release (Figure 22). With the decrease of dissolved oxygen, more iron was released. For dissolved of oxygen at levels of 7.87, 4.23 and 2.41 mg/l, corresponding iron release was around 30, 52 and 92 mg/l. With no MFC technology application, iron release was around 120 mg/l.

For soil samples collected from Leon County Landfill, a high dissolved oxygen level (i.e., 7.81 mg/l) also resulted in much lower iron release (Figure 23). With the decrease of dissolved oxygen, more iron was released. For dissolved of oxygen at levels of 7.81, 4.12 and 2.81 mg/l, corresponding iron release was around 35, 41 and 61 mg/l. With no MFC technology application, iron release was around 132 mg/l.

Oxygen content decreases with the depth of the soil. Especially, the dissolved oxygen decreases with the increase of temperature. Nearby landfills in Florida, owing to the tropical conditions, the dissolved oxygen tends to be low. Therefore, the impact of dissolved oxygen on MFC applications should be taken into consideration.



Figure 22. Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release for Soil Samples Collected from Santa Rosa Landfill



Figure 23. Impact of Dissolved Oxygen on Iron Release for Soil Samples Collected from Leon County Landfill

5. Discussion

5.1 Organic Composition and MFC Performance

The high energy requirement of conventional landfill leachate treatment is warrant for alternative treatment technologies which require less energy for its efficient operation and recover useful energy to make operations sustainable (Depountis et al. 2009; Fang et al. 2010). In the past two decade high rate anaerobic processes are finding increasing applications for the treatment of landfill leachate as well as industrial wastewater. Although energy can be recovered in the form of methane gas during anaerobic treatment, the utilization of methane is not attractive (Iza et al. 1992). When treating small quantities of low strength leachte, the generated methane is usually flared. In addition, due to global environmental concerns and energy insecurity, there is emergent interest in finding sustainable and clean energy sources (Gebert and Groengroeft 2006).

MFCs are capable of providing clean energy, apart from effective treatment of landfill leachate. MFCs utilize bacterial catalysis to directly generate electric power from carbohydrates, which can be found in a diverse range of sources such as crops, industrial and agricultural waste, including landfill leachate. Although MFCs have the advantage of clean power generation and simultaneous waste utilization, their commercialization has been halted due to their low power output. In MFCs, the current is generated by diverting the catabolic electrons to the anode. The low power capability of a MFC is mainly due to the sluggish kinetics of the electron transfer between the bacterial cells and the fuel cell anode. Although redox mediators such as methylene blue can be used to facilitate the electron transfer, these synthetic redox mediators are mostly expensive and toxic to microorganisms, making mediator-type fuel cells difficult for practical applications. Mediator-less MFCs thus have the highest potential for MFC applications. However, the isolation and cultivation of these microorganisms involve rather complicated procedures.

During the operation of mediator-less MFCs, factors that limit electricity generation include organic compound oxidation at the anode, electron transfer from the microorganisms to the anode hence, presence of electrochemically active redox enzymes,

external resistance of the circuit, proton transfer through the membrane to the cathode, and oxygen reduction at the cathode. Among above factors, the most important one is the organic compound oxidation, which is a function of organic composition (Hou et al. 2009; Liu and Zheng 2009; Luo et al. 2010). For organic compounds with different compositions, the energy generation is different (Table 1). As shown in Table 1, glucose can release more energy than other organic compounds such as acetate, etc. Since landfill leachate is a combination of variable compounds, the energy release would be different once they are applied in MFCs.

Reactions for Organic Compounds	$\Delta G^{0}(w)$ kJ/e ⁻ eq
Acetate: $1/8 \text{ CH}_3 \text{COO}^- + 3/8 \text{ H}_2 \text{O} = 1/8 \text{ CO}_2 + 1/8 \text{ HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+ + \text{e}^-$	-27.40
Ethanol: $1/12 \text{ CH}_3\text{CH}_2\text{OH} + 1/4 \text{ H}_2\text{O} = 1/6 \text{ CO}_2 + \text{H}^+ + \text{e}^-$	-31.18
Formate: $1/2 \text{ HCOO}^- + 1/2 \text{ H}_2\text{O} = 1/2 \text{ HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+ + \text{e}^-$	-39.19
Glucose: $1/24 C_6 H_{12}O_6 + 1/4 H_2O = 1/4 CO_2 + H + e$ -	-41.35
Lactate: $1/12 \text{ CH}_3\text{CHOHCOO}^- + 1/3 \text{ H}_2\text{O} = 1/6 \text{ CO}_2 + 1/12 \text{ HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+ + \text{e}^-$	-32.29
Propionate: $1/14 \text{ CH}_3\text{CH}_2\text{COO}^- + 5/14 \text{ H}_2\text{O} = 1/7 \text{ CO}_2 + 1/14 \text{ HCO}_3^- + \text{H}^+ + \text{e}^-$	-27.63

Table 1. Gibbs Free Energy of Organic Compound Oxidation

Since landfill leachate collected from Okaloosa County generated the most power, it was suspected that landfill leachate collected from this landfill had more energy-rich organic waste.

5.2 Landfill Leachate Decomposition

During MFC applications, organic compounds were decomposed. Samples were periodically withdrawn from the MFC reactors and analyzed for organic concentration in terms of BOD₅. If microbial activities are coupled with organic depletion and Monod-type kinetics are assumed to describe microbial growth, substrate and microbial concentrations over time can be described by the following equations (Monod 1949):

$$\frac{\mathrm{dS}}{\mathrm{dt}} = -\frac{1}{\mathrm{Y}} \frac{\mu_{\mathrm{m}} \mathrm{SX}}{\mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{s}} + \mathrm{S}} \tag{7}$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{dX}}{\mathrm{dt}} = \frac{\mu_{\mathrm{m}} \mathrm{SX}}{\mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{s}} + \mathrm{S}} - \frac{\mathrm{bX}}{\mathrm{K}_{\mathrm{s}} + \mathrm{S}} \tag{8}$$

where S is the organic concentration, which is expressed in terms of BOD₅ (mg/L); μ_m is the maximum specific growth rate (hr⁻¹); X is the microbial concentration (g/L); t is the elapsed time (hr); Y is the growth yield coefficient (g biomass per g substrate); K_s is the half-saturation coefficient (g/L); and b is the microbial decay coefficient (hr⁻¹). By ignoring the decay rate coefficient, Y can be used to estimate the microbial production based on organic substrate depletion, such that:

$$Y = -\frac{\Delta X}{\Delta S} \tag{9}$$

$$X = X_0 + Y(S_0 - S)$$
(10)

By substituting equation (10) into equation (7), substrate depletion can be expressed as:

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = -\frac{1}{Y} \frac{\mu_m S[X_0 + Y(S_0 - S)]}{K_s + S}$$
(11)



Figure 24. Organic Decomposition in the Static MFC

The simulated half-saturation coefficient K_s (mg/l), growth yield coefficient Y (g biomass per g substrate), and maximum specific growth rate μ_m (day⁻¹) are listed in Table 2. Except landfill leachate from Gadsden County, all the other landfill leachate had similar K_s values, indicating that the culture had similar affinity to the leachate. However, all these K_s values were larger than that of glucose. Gadsden County Landfill leachate also had the least Y value and μ_m value. All the other leachate had similar Y and μ_m values. Based on the above analysis, it might be concluded that landfill leachate from Gadsden County Landfill contained some organic compounds that were more difficult for *Shewanella putrefaciens* to decompose. However, since similar power was generated as compared to other landfill leachate samples, there was not much difference in the energy content of the organic compounds from this landfill as compared to others.

	K _S (mg/L)	Y (g/g)	$\mu_{max} (day^{-1})$
Glucose	154.3	0.678	0.0124
Gadsden County	271.6	0.323	0.0072
Leon County	172.1	0.412	0.0089
Okaloosa County	163.7	0.486	0.0105
Santa Rosa County	174.5	0.421	0.0093

Table 2. BOD₅ Decomposition Parameters in the Static MFC

5.3 Iron Release Prevention

A range of more complex organics, containing a large variety of different readily and non-readily degradable molecules such as domestic wastewater (Liu et al.), brewery wastewater (Feng et al. 2008), paper recycling wastewater (Huang and Logan 2008) or the effluent of anaerobic digesters (Aelterman et al. 2006) have been demonstrated to generate electrical power in MFCs. Nevertheless, the power outputs using wastewater are about a factor of 10 lower compared to pure substrates (Aelterman et al. 2006). Moreover, the composition of the wastewater is strongly affecting the power output of MFCs. This is also the case for landfill leachate. So far, although landfill leachate can be used to generate electricity, the level is still too low to be utilized directly.

However, the MFCs provide excellent technology to be used nearby landfill to prevent iron release. As demonstrated in this research, 75 to 80% of iron release can be prevented if the MFC technology is applied. Theoretically, the electrons released from organic compounds will be transferred to iron oxide. Consequently, iron will be reduced and released:

$$CH_2O + 2Fe_2O_3 + 3H_2O = CO_2 + 4Fe^{2+} + 8OH^-$$
 (12)

Based on above equation, 55.8 g ferrous iron can be released per electron transfer. The energy requirement for iron reduction is listed in Table 3.

Table 3. Gibbs Free Energy of Iron Reduction

Reactions for Iron Reduction	$\Delta G^{0}(w)$ kJ/e ⁻ eq
$Fe^{3+} + e^{-} = Fe^{2+}$	74.3

The energy that *Shewanella putrefaciens* obtained from the oxidation of the landfill leachate through respiration must balance their need to synthesize the new cells. Consequently,

$$\varepsilon A \Delta G_r + \Delta G_s = 0 \tag{13}$$

where ε is the efficiency of energy transfer to or from the energy carrier (e.g., ATP) which is assumed to be 0.6; ΔG_r is the free energy released per electron equivalent (eeq) (amount of the substrate that releases 1 mole e⁻ during a specified oxidation reaction) of electron-donor substrate converted for energy (e.g., respiration); ΔG_s is the carrier (ATP) energy required to synthesize 1 eeq of cells which includes energy loss incurred in using the energy carrier (e.g., ATP); and A is the balance ratio between ΔG_r and ΔG_s . For heterotrophic growth with ammonia as nitrogen source, A can be estimated by equation by:

$$A = \frac{\frac{-\Delta G_{p}}{\epsilon^{m}} - \Delta G_{c}}{\epsilon \Delta G_{r}}$$
(14)

where ΔG_p is the free energy required (or evolved) in conversion of the carbon source to pyruvate (kcal per eeq pyruvate); ΔG_c is the ATP energy required to form 1 eeq cells from pyruvate and ammonia which is assumed to be 7.5 kcal; m = +1 when $\Delta G_p > 0$ and m = -1 when $\Delta G_P < 0$. For heterotrophic growth with nitrate as the nitrogen source, as nitrate needs to be converted to ammonia first before it can be used for synthesis, A is estimated by:

$$A = \frac{\frac{-\Delta G_{p}}{\epsilon^{m}} - \frac{5}{7}\Delta G_{c} - 0.89}{\epsilon\Delta G_{r}}$$
(15)

Stoichiometric yield coefficient Y can be estimate as:

$$Y = \frac{\alpha}{\beta(1+A)}$$
 (g biomass formed per g substrateused) (16)

where α is the mole weight of 1 eeq biomass which equals to 5.65 g for ammonia served as the nitrogen source and 4.04 g for nitrate as the nitrogen source if *Shewanella putrefaciens* is assumed to have a formula of C₅H₇O₂N, and β is the mole weight of 1 eeq substrate which equals to 7.37 g, 3.83 g, 22.5 g, 7.50 g, 7.42 g and 5.21g for acetate, ethanol, formate, glucose, lactate and propionate, respectively.

The maximum specific growth rate can be estimated by:

$$\mu_{\max} = Yk \tag{17}$$

where k is the maximum specific utilization rate (g substrate used per g microbe per day) when ignoring decay or maintenance. It is asserted that the rate of electron transfer in energy-yielding reactions (e.g., respiration) is relatively constant (per g biomass per day) varying between 0.5 and 2.0 among many types of microorganisms — including heterotrophs, autotrophs, aerobes, and anaerobes. Based on this assertion, the maximum specific utilization rate is:

$$k = \frac{\beta(0.5 \sim 2.0)(1+A)}{A}$$
(18)

Organic Compounds	А	Y (g/g)	μ_{max} (day ⁻¹)
Acetate	0.73	0.44	~ 0.011
Ethanol	0.60	0.92	~ 0.013
Formate	0.43	0.17	~ 0.018
Glucose	0.40	0.53	~ 0.019
Lactate	0.56	0.48	~ 0.014
Propionate	0.72	0.63	~ 0.011

Table 4. Theoretical Shewanella putrefaciens Activity Parameters

The theoretically calculated Y and k values were in a similar range as those measured in the experiments. It should be noted that the theoretically estimated stoichiometric yield coefficient Y and maximum specific growth rate μ_{max} were obtained based on the assumption that the ammonia served as the nitrogen source and iron served as electron acceptor.

6. Conclusions

Electrons produced in the MFCs flow from the anode through an external electrical circuit to the cathode to generate electrical current. While electrons move externally, protons diffuse from the anode to the cathode via the cation exchange membrane to complete the internal circuit. At the cathode, the electrons and protons combine to reduce the terminal electron acceptor, which in many applications is oxygen. Therefore bacteria in the anode are physically separated from their terminal electron acceptor in the cathode compartment.

Using the MFC technology, iron reduction and release can be prevented, which is achieved by transiting the electrons to the designated electron acceptors avoiding the consumption of electrons by the iron rich soil. At the same time, leachate is simultaneously bioremediated. This study investigated the feasibility of the usage of MFC technology for landfill leachate decomposition, iron release prevention and possible power generation. *Shewanella putrefaciens* was identified as the dominating strain that can utilize landfill leachate as the energy source and transport the released electrons. It is also demonstrated that electrons released from landfill leachate decomposition can flow from the anode to the cathode, where they can be accepted by selected electron acceptors instead of iron oxides. For this research, several landfill leachate and soils in Northwest Florida were sampled and tested for power generation and iron release prevention. The impact of other factors such as pH, temperature and dissolved oxygen on power generation and iron release prevention was also investigated. This research will provide guidelines for MFC technology applications in landfills.

7. Future Work

The conversion of organic waste, especially landfill leachate, to energy is considered an essential part of a sustainable energy portfolio. A variety of potentially valuable underutilized energy sources exist in the United States. MFCs can generate electricity from most organic waste. Thus it is feasible for MFCs to decompose waste material while generating electricity. Coupling these technologies to minimize production costs and increase energy recovery could help make "green energy" profitable and sustainable.

Currently, the power generated by MFCs using landfill leachate is too low to be fully utilized. Part of our future work is to improve MFC performance to fully utilize the generated power. Power generation is limited by the leachate composition. There are many factors affecting the composition of leachate, i.e., age, precipitation, seasonal weather variation, and waste type. In particular, the composition of landfill leachate varies greatly depending on the age of the landfill. As landfill age increases, organics concentration in leachate decreases and ammonia nitrogen concentration increases. Landfill leachate from old sites is usually highly contaminated with ammonia resulting from the hydrolysis and fermentation of nitrogen containing fractions of biodegradable refuse substrates. The existing relation between the age of the landfill and the organic matter composition may provide useful criteria for MFC technology applications. In general, leachate may contain large amounts of organic matter (biodegradable, but also refractory to biodegradation), where humic-type constituents consist an important group, as well as ammonia-nitrogen, heavy metals, chlorinated organic and inorganic salts.

Beyond iron release prevention, MFCs also have other applications besides electricity production. MFCs can be used to power cathodic reduction reactions for bioremedial or industrial processes. Since electricity is not being harvested, the biologically generated current can thus be used to stimulate microbial metabolism on a cathode. In addition, MFCs can also be modified to produce hydrogen gas. Microbial electrolysis cell (MECs), based on bacterial oxidation of organic substrates occurring at the anode and electrons flowing to the cathode, can generate renewable hydrogen from waste materials. In MECs

an electrochemical potential achieved in the anode is supplemented with an additional ~250 mV from an exogenous source so that electrolysis of water occurs at the cathode, producing hydrogen. Over the past two years, research in this area has advanced significantly with the amount of hydrogen generated close the U.S. Department of Energy's target for technology viability. Possible hydrogen generation from landfill leachate is also part of our future work.

For MFC technologies to be applied in the field, one of the TAG members recommends a pilot scale experiment be conducted to evaluate the performance of iron release prevention. Upscale from laboratory to pilot and field is always an issue for technology applications. Parameters generated from laboratory experiments usually cannot be directly applied to field systems. We envision that iron release might be higher than the data we obtain from laboratory experiments. This is because more uncertainties may be encountered in field systems including the uneven oxygen diffusion in the cathode region, and the possible leakage of leachate from the anode region to the cathode region. If above issues can be addressed, MFC technology should efficiently prevent iron release nearby landfills. Iron release prevention will not be impacted by the variation of landfill leachate quality since organic compound decomposition is totally separated from iron reduction. We will work with the local community and the Hinkley Center to seek possibility to conduct a pilot experiment in the future."

8. Student Training

One graduate student, Pawan Subramaniam was trained in this project. Pawan was very active and productive in this research. So far, he has published two technical journal papers in leading journals based on the work sponsored by the Hinkley Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste management. In addition, he has presented his research work four times in national conferences his research work. He holds a Master of Science Degree from Florida State University and currently he is a Ph.D. candidate in the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering at FAMU-FSU College of Engineering. He will graduate in April, 2011.



9. Acknowledgements

The work was support by the Hinkley Center for Solid and Hazardous Waste Management through Grant No. UF-EIES-0632020-FSU to Florida State University. We thank Lee Martin, Peter Grasel, Jim Langenbach, Casey Taylor, Fleurette Moise, Michael Watts, and Clayton Clark for serving on the TAG committee. They provided invaluable advice on improving the laboratory design and data analysis.

9.1 Peer-reviewed journal paper publication:

1. Subramaniam, P. K., Martin, L., Grasel, P., Tawfiq, K. and Chen, G. (2110) *Iron Reduction and Adsorption on Shewanella putrefaciens nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida*, Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering, 4(9):60-69.

2. Subramaniam, P. K., Martin, L., Grasel, P., Taqfiq, K. and Chen, G. (2010) *Iron Release Prevention using Microbial Fuel Cell Technology in Northwest Florida*, Environmental Technology, to be submitted.

9.2 Conference presentation:

1. Subramaniam, P., and Chen, G. (Presented November, 2009). Usage of microbial fuel cell technology to prevent iron release nearby landfills in Northwest Florida. 95th Annual American Society of Microbiology Southeastern Branch Conference, Savannah, GA: American Society of Microbiology Southeastern Branch.

2. Subramaniam, P., and Chen, G. (To be presented November, 2010). *Landfill leachate treatment and electricity generation using microbial fuel cell technology*. 96th Annual American Society of Microbiology Southeastern Branch Conference, Montgomery, AL: American Society of Microbiology Southeastern Branch.

10. References

1. Aelterman P, Rabaey K, Clauwaert P, Verstraete W. 2006. Microbial fuel cells for wastewater treatment. Water Science and Technology 54(8):9-15.

Alzate-Gaviria L, Fuentes-Albarran C, Alvarez-Gallegos A, Sebastian PJ.
 Electricity generation from a PEM microbial fuel cell. Interciencia 33(7):503-509.
 Barford JP. 1985. Control of Fermentation and Respiration in Schizosaccharomyces Pombe. Journal of Fermentation Technology 63(6):495-500.

3. Baron D, LaBelle E, Coursolle D, Gralnick JA, Bond DR. 2009. Electrochemical Measurement of Electron Transfer Kinetics by Shewanella oneidensis MR-1. Journal of Biological Chemistry 284(42):28865-28873.

4. Bennetto HP, Stirling J, Dellaney G, Roller S, Thurston CS, Mason JR. 1983. Microbial Fuel-Cells. Process Biochemistry 18(4):R17-R17.

5. Biffinger J, Ribbens M, Ringeisen B, Pietron J, Finkel S, Nealson K. 2009. Characterization of Electrochemically Active Bacteria Utilizing a High-Throughput Voltage-Based Screening Assay. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 102(2):436-444.

6. Bond DR, Lovley DR. 2003. Electricity production by Geobacter sulfurreducens attached to electrodes. Applied Environmental Microbiology 69(3):1548-1555.

7. Borole AP, Aaron D, Hamilton CY, Tsouris C. 2010. Understanding Long-Term Changes in Microbial Fuel Cell Performance Using Electrochemical Impedance Spectroscopy. Environmental Science & Technology 44(7):2740-2744.

8. Carlisle VWe. 1995. Hydric Soils of Florida Handbook. Gainesville, FL: Florida Association of Environmental Soil Scientists. 409 p.

9. Chang IS, Moon H, Bretschger O, Jang JK, Park HI, Nealson KH, Kim BH. 2006. Electrochemically active bacteria (EAB) and mediator-less microbial fuel cells. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 16(2):163-177.

10. Chaudhuri SK, Lovley DR. 2003. Electricity generation by direct oxidation of glucose in mediatorless microbial fuel cells. Nature Biotechnology 21(10):1229-1232.

50

11. Cheng KY, Ho G, Cord-Ruwisch R. 2008. Affinity of microbial fuel cell biofilm for the anodic potential. Environmental Science & Technology 42(10):3828-3834.

12. Cheng S, Liu H, Logan BE. 2006a. Increased performance of single-chamber microbial fuel cells using an improved cathode structure. Electrochemistry Communications 8(3):489-494.

13. Cheng S, Liu H, Logan BE. 2006b. Power densities using different cathode catalysts (Pt and CoTMPP) and polymer binders (Nafion and PTFE) in single chamber microbial fuel cells. Environmental Science & Technology 40(1):364-369.

14. Cheng SA, Logan BE. 2007. Ammonia treatment of carbon cloth anodes to enhance power generation of microbial fuel cells. Electrochemistry Communications 9(3):492-496.

15. Davila D, Esquivel JP, Vigues N, Sanchez O, Garrido L, Tomas N, Sabate N, del Campo FJ, Munoz FJ, Mas J. 2008. Development and optimization of microbial fuel cells. Journal of New Materials for Electrochemical Systems 11(2):99-103.

16. Depountis N, Koukis G, Sabatakakis N. 2009. Environmental problems associated with the development and operation of a lined and unlined landfill site: a case study demonstrating two landfill sites in Patra, Greece. Environmental Geology 56(7):1251-1258.

17. Dong HL, Kostka JE, Kim J. 2003. Microscopic evidence for microbial dissolution of smectite. Clays and Clay Minerals 51(5):502-512.

18. Donovan C, Dewan A, Heo D, Beyenal H. 2008. Batteryless, Wireless Sensor Powered by a Sediment Microbial Fuel Cell. Environmental Science & Technology 42(22):8591-8596.

19. Fang CR, Yao J, Wang J, Wang W, Long YY, He R, Shen DS. 2010. Comparison of leachate treatments in the simulated landfill bioreactors with different operation modes. Desalination and Water Treatment 16(1-3):10-16.

20. Fedorovich V, Knighton MC, Pagaling E, Ward FB, Free A, Goryanin I. 2009. Novel Electrochemically Active Bacterium Phylogenetically Related to Arcobacter butzleri, Isolated from a Microbial Fuel Cell. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 75(23):7326-7334. 21. Feng CH, Li FB, Liu HY, Lang XM, Fan SS. 2010. A dual-chamber microbial fuel cell with conductive film-modified anode and cathode and its application for the neutral electro-Fenton process. Electrochimica Acta 55(6):2048-2054.

22. Feng Y, Wang X, Logan BE, Lee H. 2008. Brewery wastewater treatment using air-cathode microbial fuel cells. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 78(5):873-880.

23. Fornero JJ, Rosenbaum M, Cotta MA, Angenent LT. 2008. Microbial Fuel Cell Performance with a Pressurized Cathode Chamber. Environmental Science & Technology 42(22):8578-8584.

24. Fornero JJ, Rosenbaum M, Cotta MA, Angenent LT. 2010. Carbon Dioxide Addition to Microbial Fuel Cell Cathodes Maintains Sustainable Catholyte pH and Improves Anolyte pH, Alkalinity, and Conductivity. Environmental Science & Technology 44(7):2728-2734.

25. Freguia S, Rabaey K, Yuan ZG, Keller J. 2008. Syntrophic Processes Drive the Conversion of Glucose in Microbial Fuel Cell Anodes. Environmental Science & Technology 42(21):7937-7943.

26. Gebert J, Groengroeft A. 2006. Passive landfill gas emission - Influence of atmospheric pressure and implications for the operation of methane-oxidising biofilters. Waste Management 26(3):245-251.

27. Goddard DR. 1945. Anaerobic Respiration or Fermentation. Science 101(2623):352-353.

28. Greenman J, Galvez A, Giusti L, Ieropoulos L. 2009. Electricity from landfill leachate using microbial fuel cells: Comparison with a biological aerated filter. Enzyme and Microbial Technology 44(2):112-119.

29. Guo K, Tang XH, Du ZW, Li HR. 2010. Hydrogen production from acetate in a cathode-on-top single-chamber microbial electrolysis cell with a mipor cathode. Biochemical Engineering Journal 51(1-2):48-52.

30. Hasanaly SM. 2010. Electrochemical Characteristics of Tin Oxide-Graphite as Anode Material for Lithium-ion Cells. International Conference on Advancement of Materials and Nanotechnology 1217:187-191. 31. He Z, Huang YL, Manohar AK, Mansfeld F. 2008. Effect of electrolyte pH on the rate of the anodic and cathodic reactions in an air-cathode microbial fuel cell. Bioelectrochemistry 74(1):78-82.

32. Holmes DE, Bond DR, O'Neil RA, Reimers CE, Tender LR, Lovley DR. 2004. Microbial communities associated with electrodes harvesting electricity from a variety of aquatic sediments. Microbial Ecology 48(2):178-190.

33. Hou HJ, Li L, Cho Y, de Figueiredo P, Han A. 2009. Microfabricated Microbial Fuel Cell Arrays Reveal Electrochemically Active Microbes. PLoS ONE 4(8):5569-5574.

34. Huang LP, Logan BE. 2008. Electricity generation and treatment of paper recycling wastewater using a microbial fuel cell. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 80(2):349-355.

35. Ishii S, Watanabe K, Yabuki S, Logan BE, Sekiguchi Y. 2008. Comparison of Electrode Reduction Activities of Geobacter sulfurreducens and an Enriched Consortium in an Air-Cathode Microbial Fuel Cell. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74(23):7348-7355.

36. Iza J, Keenan PJ, Switzenbaum MS. 1992. Anaerobic Treatment of Municipal Solid-Waste Landfill Leachate - Operation of a Pilot Scale Hybrid Uasb Af Reactor. Water Science and Technology 25(7):255-264.

37. Jadhav GS, Ghangrekar MM. 2008. Improving Performance of MFC by Design Alteration and Adding Cathodic Electrolytes. Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology 151(2-3):319-332.

38. Jadhav GS, Ghangrekar MM. 2009. Performance of microbial fuel cell subjected to variation in pH, temperature, external load and substrate concentration. Bioresource Technology 100(2):717-723.

39. Kim GT, Webster G, Wimpenny JWT, Kim BH, Kim HJ, Weightman AJ. 2006. Bacterial community structure, compartmentalization and activity in a microbial fuel cell. Journal of Applied Microbiology 101(3):698-710.

40. Kim JR, Min B, Logan BE. 2005a. Evaluation of procedures to acclimate a microbial fuel cell for electricity production. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 68(1):23-30.

41. Kim JW, Furukawa Y, Dong HL, Newell SW. 2005b. The effect of microbial Fe(III) reduction on smectite flocculation. Clays and Clay Minerals 53(6):572-579.

42. Kline KA, Dodson KW, Caparon MG, Hultgren SJ. 2010. A tale of two pili: assembly and function of pili in bacteria. Trends in Microbiology 18(5):224-232.

43. Kostka JE, Dalton DD, Skelton H, Dollhopf S, Stucki JW. 2002. Growth of iron(III)-reducing bacteria on clay minerals as the sole electron acceptor and comparison of growth yields on a variety of oxidized iron forms. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68(12):6256-6262.

44. Lee K, Kostka JE, Stucki JW. 2006. Comparisons of structural Fe reduction in smectites by bacteria and dithionite: An infrared spectroscopic study. Clays and Clay Minerals 54(2):195-208.

45. Li XL, Du K, Huang JM, Kang FY, Shen WC. 2010. Effect of carbon nanotubes on the anode performance of natural graphite for lithium ion batteries. Journal of Physics and Chemistry of Solids 71(4):457-459.

46. Liu H, Logan B. 2004. Electricity generation using an air-cathode single chamber microbial fuel cell (MFC) in the absence of a proton exchange membrane. Abstracts of Papers of the American Chemical Society 228:U622-U622.

47. Liu H, Ramnarayanan R, Logan BE. 2004. Production of electricity during wastewater treatment using a single chamber microbial fuel cell. Environmental Science & Technology 38(7): 2281-2285.

48. Liu HF, Zheng BJ. 2009. Microbial Fuel Cells. Progress in Chemistry 21(6):1349-1355.

49. Logan BE, Regan JM. 2006. Microbial fuel cells--challenges and applications. Environmental Science & Technology 40(17):5172-5180.

50. Lovley DR. 2008. The microbe electric: conversion of organic matter to electricity. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 19(6):564-571.

51. Luckarift HR, Sizemore SR, Roy J, Lau C, Gupta G, Atanassov P, Johnson GR. 2010. Standardized microbial fuel cell anodes of silica-immobilized Shewanella oneidensis. Chemical Communications 46(33):6048-6050.

52. Luo Y, Liu GL, Zhang RD, Zhang CP. 2010. Power generation from furfural using the microbial fuel cell. Journal of Power Sources 195(1):190-194.

53. Madigan MT, Martinko JM, Parker J. 2000. Brock Biology of Microorganisms. Upper Saddle River, N. J: Prentice-Hall.

54. Manohar AK, Mansfeld F. 2009. The internal resistance of a microbial fuel cell and its dependence on cell design and operating conditions. Electrochimica Acta 54(6):1664-1670.

55. Manuel MF, Neburchilov V, Wang H, Guiot SR, Tartakovsky B. 2010. Hydrogen production in a microbial electrolysis cell with nickel-based gas diffusion cathodes. Journal of Power Sources 195(17):5514-5519.

56. Marsili E, Baron DB, Shikhare ID, Coursolle D, Gralnick JA, Bond DR. 2008. Shewanella Secretes flavins that mediate extracellular electron transfer. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105(10):3968-3973.

57. Monod J. 1949. The Growth of Bacterial Cultures. Annual Review of Microbiology 3:371-394.

58. Noguchi Y, Nakai Y, Shimba N, Toyosaki H, Kawahara Y, Sugimoto S, Suzuki E. 2004. The energetic conversion competence of Escherichia coli during aerobic respiration studied by P-31 NMR using a circulating fermentation system. Journal of Biochemistry 136(4):509-515.

59. Oh S, Min B, Logan BE. 2004. Cathode performance as a factor in electricity generation in microbial fuel cells. Environmental Science & Technology 38(18):4900-4904.

60. Park DH, Zeikus JG. 2003. Improved fuel cell and electrode designs for producing electricity from microbial degradation. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 81(3):348-355.

61. Park HS, Kim BH, Kim HS, Kim HJ, Kim GT, Kim M, Chang IS, Park YK, Chang HI. 2001. A novel electrochemically active and Fe(III)-reducing bacterium phylogenetically related to Clostridium butyricum isolated from a microbial fuel cell. Anaerobe 7(6):297-306.

62. Perez-Gonzalez T, Jimenez-Lopez C, Neal AL, Rull-Perez F, Rodriguez-Navarro A, Fernandez-Vivas A, Ianez-Pareja E. 2010. Magnetite biomineralization induced by Shewanella oneidensis. Geochimica Et Cosmochimica Acta 74(3):967-979. 63. Pham CA, Jung SJ, Phung NT, Lee J, Chang IS, Kim BH, Yi H, Chun J. 2003. A novel electrochemically active and Fe(III)-reducing bacterium phylogenetically related to Aeromonas hydrophila, isolated from a microbial fuel cell. Fems Microbiology Letters 223(1):129-134.

64. Prado FC, Vandenberghe LRS, Lisboa C, Paca J, Pandey A, Soccol CR. 2004. Relation between citric acid production and respiration rate of Aspergillus niger in solidstate fermentation. Engineering in Life Sciences 4(2):179-186.

65. Rabaey K, Boon N, Siciliano SD, Verhaege M, Verstraete W. 2004. Biofuel cells select for microbial consortia that self-mediate electron transfer. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 70(9):5373-5382.

66. Rabaey K., van de Sompel K, Maignien L. et al. (2006) Microbial fuel cells for sulfide removal. Environmental Science & Technology 40(17): 5218-5224.

67. Rabaey K, Clauwaert P, Aelterman P, Verstraete W. 2005. Tubular microbial fuel cells for efficient electricity generation. Environmental Science & Technology 39(20):8077-8082.

68. Rabaey K, Keller J. 2008. Microbial fuel cell cathodes: from bottleneck to prime opportunity? Water Science and Technology 57(5):655-659.

69. Rabaey K, Lissens G, Siciliano SD, Verstraete W. 2003. A microbial fuel cell capable of converting glucose to electricity at high rate and efficiency. Biotechnology Letters 25(18):1531-1535.

70. Rabaey K, Verstraete W. 2005. Microbial fuel cells: novel biotechnology for energy generation. Trends in Biotechnology 23(6):291-298.

71. Read ST, Dutta P, Bond PL, Keller J, Rabaey K. 2010. Initial development and structure of biofilms on microbial fuel cell anodes. Bmc Microbiology 10:98 0:98doi:10.1186/1471-2180-10-98.

72. Reimers CE, Tender LM, Fertig S, Wang W. 2001. Harvesting energy from the marine sediment--water interface. Environmental Science & Technology 35(1):192-195.

73. Rezaei F, Richard TL, Logan BE. 2008. Enzymatic Hydrolysis of Cellulose Coupled With Electricity Generation in a Microbial Fuel Cell. Biotechnology and Bioengineering 101(6):1163-1169. 74. Richter H, McCarthy K, Nevin KP, Johnson JP, Rotello VM, Lovley DR. 2008. Electricity generation by Geobacter sulfurreducens attached to gold electrodes. Langmuir 24(8):4376-4379.

75. Richter K, Bucking C, Schicklberger M, Gescher J. 2010. A simple and fast method to analyze the orientation of c-type cytochromes in the outer membrane of Gramnegative bacteria. Journal of Microbiological Methods 82(2):184-186.

76. Schaetzle O, Barriere F, Baronian K. 2008. Bacteria and yeasts as catalysts in microbial fuel cells: electron transfer from micro-organisms to electrodes for green electricity. Energy & Environmental Science 1(6):607-620.

77. Schlegel H. 1992. General microbiolgy 7th ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. 655 p.

78. Scott GT. 1945. Anaerobic Respiration Vs Fermentation. Science 101(2632):585-586.

79. Sharma T, Reddy ALM, Chandra TS, Ramaprabhu S. 2008. High Power Density from Pt Thin Film Electrodes Based Microbial Fuel Cell. Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology 8(8):4132-4134.

80. Strik DPBTB, Terlouw H, Hamelers HVM, Buisman CJN. 2008. Renewable sustainable biocatalyzed electricity production in a photosynthetic algal microbial fuel cell (PAMFC). Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 81(4):659-668.

81. Subramaniam P, Martin L, Grasel P, Tawfiq K, Chen G. 2010. Iron Reduction and Adsorption on Shewanella putrefaciens nearby Landfills in Northwest Florida. Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering 4(9):60-69.

82. Takagi K, Kano K, Ikeda T. 1998. Mediated bioelectrocatalysis based on NAD-related enzymes with reversible characteristics. Journal of Electroanalytical Chemistry 445(1-2):211-219.

83. Teng SX, Tong ZH, Li WW, Wang SG, Sheng GP, Shi XY, Liu XW, Yu HQ.2010. Electricity generation from mixed volatile fatty acids using microbial fuel cells.Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 87(6):2365-2372.

84. Thygesen A, Poulsen FW, Min B, Angelidaki I, Thomsen AB. 2009. The effect of different substrates and humic acid on power generation in microbial fuel cell operation. Bioresource Technology 100(3):1186-1191.

85. Trinh NT, Park JH, Kim BW. 2009. Increased generation of electricity in a microbial fuel cell using Geobacter sulfurreducens. Korean Journal of Chemical Engineering 26(3):748-753.

86. van Maris AJA, Bakker BM, Brandt M, Boorsma A, de Mattos MJT, Grivell LA, Pronk JT, Blom J. 2001. Modulating the distribution of fluxes among respiration and fermentation by overexpression of HAP4 in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Fems Yeast Research 1(2):139-149.

87. Virdis B, Rabaey K, Yuan ZG, Rozendal RA, Keller J. 2009. Electron Fluxes in a Microbial Fuel Cell Performing Carbon and Nitrogen Removal. Environmental Science & Technology 43(13):5144-5149.

88. Wang CT, Chen WJ, Huang RY. 2010. Influence of growth curve phase on electricity performance of microbial fuel cell by *Escherichia coil*. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy 35(13):7217-7223.

89. Watanabe K. 2008. Recent Developments in Microbial Fuel Cell Technologies for Sustainable Bioenergy. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering 106(6):528-536.

90. Williams M, Subramanian P, Chen G. 2009. Soil and microbial characterization and microbial mediated iron release nearby landfills in Northwest Florida, U.S. Int. J. Environ. Waste Manage. in press.

91. Wright B, Bishop DW. 1962. Respiration and Fermentation. Science 135(3502):444-448.

92. Yang SQ, Jia BY, Liu H. 2009. Effects of the Pt loading side and cathodebiofilm on the performance of a membrane-less and single-chamber microbial fuel cell. Bioresource Technology 100(3):1197-1202.

93. Yoon SM, Choi CH, Kim M, Hyun MS, Shin SH, Yi DH, Kim HJ. 2007. Enrichment of electrochemically active bacteria using a three-electrode electrochemical cell. Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology 17(1):110-115.

94. You SJ, Zhang JN, Yuan YX, Ren NQ, Wang XH. 2010. Development of microbial fuel cell with anoxic/oxic design for treatment of saline seafood wastewater and biological electricity generation. Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology 85(8):1077-1083.

95. You SJ, Zhao QL, Zhang JN, Jiang JQ, Zhao SQ. 2006. A microbial fuel cell using permanganate as the cathodic electron acceptor. Journal of Power Sources 162(2):1409-1415.

96. Zabalza A, Van Dongen JT, Froehlich A, Oliver SN, Faix B, Gupta KJ, Schmalzlin E, Igal M, Orcaray L, Royuela M and others. 2009. Regulation of Respiration and Fermentation to Control the Plant Internal Oxygen Concentration. Plant Physiology 149(2):1087-1098.

97. Zhao F, Harnisch F, Schrorder U, Scholz F, Bogdanoff P, Herrmann I. 2006. Challenges and constraints of using oxygen cathodes in microbial fuel cells. Environmental Science & Technology 40(17):5193-5199.